
OPEN CALL FOR TENDER IP/C/JURI/FWC/2015-002 
 
FOR A MULTIPLE FRAMEWORK SERVICE CONTRACT FOR THE PROVISION OF EXTERNAL 
EXPERTISE TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT'S COMMITTEE ON LEGAL AFFAIRS IN THE FIELDS 
OF JUDICIAL COOPERATION IN CIVIL MATTERS, INCLUDING PROCEDURAL LAW AND PRIVATE 
INTERNATIONAL LAW; CONTRACT LAW; COMPANY LAW; INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY LAW; 
ADMINISTRATIVE LAW, INCLUDING THE LAW OF ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURE. 
 
 
Frequently Asked Questions (FAQ) 
 

 

1. We are interested in above referred FWC for the European Parliament’s Committee on Legal Affairs and consider to tender 
for one or several lots. We therefore wish to seek your kind clarification whether we would be eligible to take part in the 
tender procedure. Please find our statutes enclosed and more information on our organizations. 

According to Article 6 of the Rules for the submission, contents and presentation of a tender :" Participation in this 
competitive tendering procedure is open on the same terms to all natural or legal persons and public entities in a European 
Union Member State and to all natural and legal persons and public entities of a third country which has concluded a 
specific public procurement agreement with the European Union giving them access to the contract which is the subject of 
this invitation to tender and on the terms laid down by that agreement. [...] In order to ascertain the eligibility of tenderers, 
they must indicate in their tenders the country in which they have their registered office (for legal persons) or in which they 
are domiciled (for natural persons). They must also submit the evidence required under their national law or other, 
equivalent proof enabling the European Parliament to check where they come from". 
 
The evaluation of the eligibility takes place after the submission of the tender.  

2. I was wondering whether you could provide us with the word format of Annex II, III and IV to the rules of tendering.  Our It 
department can convert them  in word but in general converting damages a bit the file and you might find some 
inconsistencies between converted files and Pdf files. 

Our policy is to make those files available in PDF only, in order to avoid receiving filled-in documents with distorted formats.  

3. In the tender specification you seem to require a team composed not only by legal experts but also by economists. We 
would like some clarification concerning this as members of the team have to have at least three years of experience 
relevant to the lot, e.g. Administrative law. We see it as a bit difficult to involve in the team an economist with such 
experience. Could you please clarify if the requisite of three years of experience does not apply to all members of the team 
and if we can have a support team composed by economists which does not fulfil these three years of experience 
requirement. Or should we interpret the tender specifications as requiring that also the economists have relevant 
experience, which in our case would be experience in the economics of the public administration or the economics of 
administrative law? 

The "Rules for the submission, contents and presentation of a tender for the multiple framework service contract 
IP/C/JURI/FWC/2015-002" do not specifically require that teams include economists as well as legal experts.  

 What is clearly specified is that "[...] the European Parliament requires tenderers, [...] to have the following technical and 
professional capacity: All persons responsible for carrying out the services need to have a professional and/or academic 
experience of a minimum three (3) years in the area covered by each lot the tenderer is applying for, obtained after their 
degree in an area of relevance for the lot tendered for; [...] Scientific/academic distinction clearly relating to research in the 
fields relevant for the lot tendered for;" (see point 13.4, highlight added). Therefore the requirement of a minimum three-
year experience in the field applies to all members of the team. In the example you raised, economists may be listed as 
members of the team if they have three years of experience the relevance of which will be assessed with regard to the area 
covered by the lot, i.e. administrative law. 

The meaning of "an area of relevance for the lot tendered for" is to be understood in the light of the quality criteria set for 
the tender with regard to the make-up and competence of the research team, for which the Rules refer to the 
"multidisciplinarity" of the research team and the "variety and range of skills at the tenderer's disposal" (see point 14.1, 
highlight added).  

  



4. I note that you published the invitation to tender for this framework contract on 5 March 2015 and the time limit for 
submitting the tender is 14 April 2015. Isn’t the delay for submitting the tender a bit short considering that in a similar 
invitation to tender (Open call for tender for a multiple framework contract in 12 lots for the provision of external expertise 
in the field of 'ex post' impact assessment and evaluation 015/S 036-060453) the Parliament published the invitation to 
tender on 20 February 2015 and set as a deadline 5 May 2015. It is posited in agreement that such a short delay may 
disadvantage consortia or tenderers willing to coordinate with subcontractors. Could the deadline be extended in order to 
ensure equality of treatment of all participants. 
 
The minimum time limits for submission of tenders were observed (Art. 152 RAP): 
- 52 calendar days, with further five calendar days’ reduction if the tender documents are freely accessible on Parliament’s 
website. 
 
Time limits run from the date of dispatch of the contract notice, and not from the date of publication in the S series of the 
Official Journal (OJ/S S45 - Art. VI.5 - Date of dispatch of this notice: 23.2.2015). 

5. Please kindly let us know whether the following documents need to be submitted in the tendering phase by the members 
of consortia, or only upon the request of the European Parliament: 
 
a) Proof of legal form of the consortium (for e.g. MoU or Power of attorney) 
 
According to Article 7.2. of the Rules for the submission, contents and presentation of a tender, the consortium of economic 
operators shall furnish proof of its legal form in the tender. Therefore, the proof of legal form needs to be submitted in the 
tendering phase. The document supplied must prove the consortium's official status. The form of those documents or 
agreements may exceptionally be modified and the submission of this documentation may exceptionally be done after the 
time limit for submission of a tender, but under no circumstances after the outcome of the invitation to tender has been 
communicated to the tenderers concerned. 
 
b) Proof of the right of access to the contract for consortium leader and partners 
 
According to Article 7.5. of the Rules for the submission, contents and presentation of a tender, in the case of a consortium 
of economic operators, each member shall furnish proof of the right of access to the contract. As this provision is included in 
the rules for the submission, contents and presentation of a tender, the proof of the right of access to the contract for 
consortium leader and partners needs to be submitted with the tender. 
 
c) Proof concerning compliance with the exclusion and selection criteria for consortium leader and partners 
 
According to Article 7.5. of the Rules for the submission, contents and presentation of a tender, in the case of a consortium 
of economic operators, each member shall furnish proof concerning compliance with the exclusion and selection criteria. 
Therefore, all members of a consortium need to fill in and present the administrative offer (exclusion and selection criteria), 
including the documents referred therein, as part of the tender. 

6. Regarding technical capacity: 
 
a) Is there a particular setup of the permanent core team which needs to be proposed (specific number of staff per 
category)? 

 
The make-up/ competence of the research team is one of the criteria to evaluate the quality of the tender. Article 14.1 of 
the Rules for the submission, contents and presentation of a tender provides clear explanation on what the make-up/ 
competence of the research team shall be. No specific number of staff per category is requested. 
 
b) Does the permanent core team need to be in-house staff or can include external experts which would be contracted 
once the consortium is selected? 
 
According to Article 8 of the Rules for the submission, contents and presentation of a tender, subcontracting is permitted, 
provided that critical tasks are handled by the European Parliament’s contractor. The tender must give details of that part 
of the contract that the tenderer proposes to subcontract and the identity of the subcontractors. Furthermore, the European 
Parliament must be informed by the contractor of any subsequent use of subcontracting not mentioned in the tender. The 
relevant authorising officer reserves the right to accept or reject the proposed subcontractor. In order to do so he/she may 
demand the requisite proof to establish whether the subcontractor(s) complies/comply with the requisite criteria. The 
European Parliament's authorisation will always be granted in writing. 
If the contract is awarded to a tenderer who proposes a subcontractor in his/her tender, this implies that the European 
Parliament is giving consent for the subcontracting. 
 
 



c) Does the permanent core team have to be full time committed and provide exclusive availability, or can perform other 
professional assignments? 

 
Exclusive availability is not required by this Framework Service Contract. The tenderers, to whom the contract is awarded, 
can perform other professional assignments as long as the absence of any conflicts of interest is ensured. 
 
d) Can members of permanent core team be presented for more than 1 Lots? 

 
Yes. According to Article 1 of the Rules for the submission, contents and presentation of a tender, the lots are independent 
of each other and any tenderer may submit offers for one, several or all of the lots. A separate tender needs to be submitted 
for each lot the tenderer is tendering for. 
 
e) Can project directors, senior researchers and researchers be presented in more than 1 Lots? 

 
Idem as above. 
 
f) Related to the team of experts, which is the criteria for the ‘researcher’ category? In the Rules of submission, only the 
criteria for project leader and senior researcher is mentioned (p. 13); 

 
To qualify as a project leader, a professional and/or academic experience of a minimum of five (5) years is required. To 
qualify as a senior researcher, a professional and/or academic experience of a minimum of eight (8) years is required. 
Therefore, to qualify as a researcher a professional and/or academic experience of less than five (5) years is sufficient. 
 
g) Please kindly clarify whether there is a specific format of CVs to be used to present the staff candidates? 

 
No specific format of CV is requested. 
 
h) Please kindly clarify if the CVs need to be submitted as part of Administrative offer, i.e. as attachments under point 5.2.1 
of Administrative offer. 

 
Yes, CVs need to be submitted under point 5.2.1 of the Administrative offer. 
 
i) Please kindly clarify whether there is a minimum or maximum number of CVs to be presented per staff category (project 
leader, senior researcher, researcher). 

 
There is not a minimum or maximum number of CVs to be presented. However, a CV needs to be submitted for each 
member of the research team. 
 
j) Will the CVs of the staff per category be evaluated as part of technical offer and how (evaluation grid)? 
 
CVs need to be submitted as part of the administrative offer (see point 5.2.1 of the administrative offer) to evaluate if the 
tenderer has sufficient technical and professional capacity (selection criteria) to perform the contract. 

7. Regarding Administrative offer: 
a) Regarding the Administrative offer - point 5.2 Technical and professional capacity please kindly clarify whether all proofs 
that need to be presented are related to professional capacity of the staff responsible for the execution of the services, and 
not to the tenderer (consortium member companies and institutions), for e.g. under 5.2.3 List of similar services supplied 
within the last 5 years; 5.2.4. Detailed references for similar contracts or projects performed for the EU institutions – these 
proofs relate to the experience of the expert or the tenderer (company)? 

 
Please see Article 13.4 of the Rules for the submission, contents and presentation of a tender, which clarifies when 
documentary evidence refers to the staff planned for the execution of the services. 

8. Regarding financial offer: 
a) Please kindly clarify what number of working days need to be stated in the Global Financial Offer? Should the consortia 
calculate and propose number of working days needed to produce each of the specific research products? 

 
Yes, the consortium needs to calculate and propose number of working days needed to produce each specific research 
product. 

9. In the tender specification you seem to require a team of several members to apply. Is it possible to apply to the tender 
offer as a single member proposing a study report based on qualitative research and theoretical analysis? 
 



Pursuant to Article 6 of the Rules for the submission, contents and presentation of a tender for the above mentioned 
framework service contract participation in this competitive tendering procedure is open on the same terms to all natural or 
legal persons and public entities in a European Union Member State and to all natural and legal persons and public entities 
of a third country which has concluded a specific public procurement agreement with the European Union giving them 
access to the contract which is the subject of this invitation to tender and on the terms laid down by that agreement. 

10. In the context of the aforementioned call for tender we wish to ask for clarification as regards the Annex IV (Global 
Financial Offer). In this annex, the contracting authority asks for a daily rate in € per staff category and a corresponding 
number of days. We find it however difficult to assess the necessary number of days per category without any further 
information on the estimated effort needed to produce the different research products. To be clear, one can not make a 
relevant estimate of needed man days per category based on the number of pages to be produced, as this has little value 
as it makes no reference to the complexity of a specific request. 
Could the contracting authority provide more information to enable contractors to have a common approach to providing 
the necessary number of man-days per category of staff? 
 

Daily rate under Annex IV of the Draft Framework Contract means the price per man/day deployed in EUR Figures with up to 
two decimals may be used. Indication of daily rates in EUR for the different categories of experts is mandatory. An 
incomplete or partially completed price list form will result in the rejection of the offer. 
The indication of the daily rates pertains to the assessment of each tenderer. As the price together with the quality are the 
criteria on the basis of which tenders will be evaluated no guidelines can be provided by the contracting authority. 

11. This is according to article 4. “CONTACTS DURING THE TENDER PROCEDURE” in order to ask additional information about 
the tender procedure: 
 
a) ART. 8. “SUBCONTRACTING” - Rules for submission, contents and presentation of a tender for multiple framework 
service contract. Does article 8.4 mean that the tenderer can indicate one or more subcontractor also after signing the 
contract without indicating anything in its offer (tender)? Of course, the subcontracting must be authorized by the EP. 

 
Subcontracting may be used after the presentation of a tender if the conditions mentioned in Article 8 of the Rules for 
submission, contents and presentation of a tender are satisfied. In particular, the European Parliament must be informed by 
the contractor of any subsequent use of subcontracting not mentioned in the tender. The relevant authorising officer 
reserves the right to accept or reject the proposed subcontractor. In order to do so he/she may demand the requisite proof 
to establish whether the subcontractor(s) complies/comply with the requisite criteria. The European Parliament's 
authorisation will always be granted in writing. 
 
b) ART. 2.4 - Rules for submission, contents and presentation of a tender for multiple framework service contract. Does 
article 2.4 mean that the tenderer must put all documents in an envelope and then put the mentioned envelope in another 
envelope? 

 
Yes. 
 
c) In order to be sure, I kindly ask you if the tender is composed of the following documents (to be put in the envelope) or I 
missed something: an accompanying letter, the Administrative offer, the Technical offer and the Financial offer. 

 
Article 1.2. of the Rules for submission, contents and presentation of a tender for multiple framework service contract 
clearly indicates all the documents, which shall be submitted. 
 
d) May I copy templates listed in Annex II, III and IV in my letterhead and then fill them out or shall I fill out the mentioned 
templates? 

 
The mentioned templates should be filled out. 

12. The Financial Offer Annex IV (page 1) has a column entitled ‘Working Days’. What should be entered in that that column? 
Assuming it is the number of working days required to complete each Research Product, how can the ‘best offer for the 
service’ which will be requested following the reopening of the competition (referred to under the Global Terms of 
Reference 8.1 at the bottom of page 10),  differ from the price per product on Annex IV? 
 
In the Financial Offer the column entitled ‘Working Days’ refers to the number of working days required to complete each 
Research Product. The best offer for the service in the framework of the reopening of competition will be evaluated 
according to the following award criteria: quality (weighting 70%) and price (weighting 30%). As regards the price, Article 
14.2.1 of the Rules for the submission, contents and presentation of a tender provides that when a reopening of competition 
takes place, following a specific request, the total cost of the service ordered is calculated as follows: daily rates per 
category of experts (as indicated in the price tables) are multiplied with the proposed number of days, plus other possible 
project-specific costs, plus possible travel needs related to the product. Please note that framework contractors must adhere 



to the daily rates indicated in their overall financial offer. Specific offers not complying with the fee brackets indicated in the 
overall offer must be rejected. 

13. Can specialised researchers be recruited on a ‘case by case basis’ (Rules document 14.1 page 14) once the competition has 
reopened, when providing a best offer for a particular service? Can those specialised researchers come from within and 
outside a tendering organisation if not listed as subcontractors on the framework tender? 

 
Subcontracting is permitted, provided that critical tasks are handled by the European Parliament’s contractor. The European 
Parliament must be informed by the contractor of any subsequent use of subcontracting not mentioned in the tender. The 
relevant authorising officer reserves the right to accept or reject the proposed subcontractor. In order to do so he/she may 
demand the requisite proof to establish whether the subcontractor(s) complies/comply with the requisite criteria. The 
European Parliament's authorisation will always be granted in writing. (See Article 8 of the Rules for the submission, 
contents and presentation of a tender). 

14. On the Rules document 13.4 (page 13) there is a request for ‘detailed references for similar contracts’ to be provided in 
Annex II Administrative Offer. Will the amount, date and stakeholders for these similar contracts or projects suffice or do 
you require references themselves from the contracting body or organisation? 

 
As regards the 'detailed references for similar contracts’ to be provided in Annex II Administrative Offer, specific references 
from the contracting body or organisation are not requested. 

15. On the Rules document 13.4 (page 13) there is a request for ‘proof of membership in academic networks’ and ‘proof of 
relevant articles’. Will listings of full details of these articles and networks suffice? If not what sort of proof is required? 
 
As regards, ‘proof of membership in academic networks’ and ‘proof of relevant articles’ the references to full details of these 
articles and networks will enable the Parliament to verify their existence. 

16. I would like to know if the same  entity could have the position of tenderer in a tender and of subcontractor in another 
tender for the same lot. In the past we have experienced that this has been allowed by the European Commission (DG 
Energy). One of our subcontractor tendered for the same Contract and was awarded the Contract. 
I was wondering what is the position of the European Parliament on this respect. 
 
The Rules for the submission, contents and presentation of a tender provides that a tenderer may not submit more than one 
tender for a given lot, whether individually, or as a part of a consortium (Article 1.1.). 
Subcontracting is not explicitly mentioned in this provision. However, conflict of interest problems are likely to arise at the 
stage of the reopening of competition if the framework service contract is awarded to both tenderer 1 and tenderer 2 (who 
has tenderer 1 as subcontractor). The tenderer who is also a subcontractor can easily have access on the offers prepared in 
case of reopening the competition. In this case neither the confidentiality of tender documents nor the absence of influence 
on price can be excluded. 
I draw your attention to the provisions of the Rules of Application of the Financial Regulation, according to which the 
contracting authority may conclude that economic operators will not perform the contract to an appropriate quality 
standard where the contracting authority establishes that they have conflicting interest which may negatively affect the 
performance of the contract (Article 148.8 of the Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No 1268/2012 of 29 October 2012 
on the rules of application of Regulation (EU, Euratom) No 966/2012 of the European Parliament and of the Council on the 
financial rules applicable to the general budget of the Union). 

17. I assume that one cannot be subcontractor in two different tenders. Can an entity be a subcontractor for two different 
tenderers? 
 
Subcontracting is permitted, provided that critical tasks are handled by the European Parliament’s contractor (Rule 8.1 of 
the Rules for tendering).  
Your previous question concerned the case of the same entity being in the position of tenderer in a tender and of 
subcontractor in another tender for the same lot. In this particular case, as explained, problems of conflict of interest may 
arise at the later stage of the reopening of competition if both tenderers are awarded the framework service contract. 

18. One of our possible subcontractors has a doubt concerning a possible conflict of interest. He refers that in the past few 
months he was involved in a case before the General Court against the European Parliament in a Public procurement file.  
This case is now ending as the European Parliament has changed its position and has accepted his arguments and issued a 
new decision which is favorable to his client, therefore, he has submitted a request of removal of the case from the 
Registry in accordance with the European Parliament rules. The case however will be probably closed in the next couple of 
months, according to the General Court’s internal rhythm. He is wondering whether the fact that he has a pending litigation 
with the EP Parliament could be considered as a conflict of interest. We think that this should not be the case, also 
considering that the case is technically over, but we would prefer to be advised by the EP Parliament on this respect. 

http://eur-lex.europa.eu/JOHtml.do?uri=OJ:L:2012:362:SOM:EN:HTML


The Financial Rules of the European Union in its Article 107 (Regulation (EU, Euratom) No 966/2012 of the European 
Parliament and of the Council) state indeed that also a tenderer can be found to be in a conflict of interest. Article 107 (1)(a) 
of the FR provides as follows: 

“A contract shall not be awarded to candidates or tenderers who, during the procurement procedure for that contract: Are 
subject to a conflict of interests; […]” 

Although the Financial Rules explicitly speak of tenderers , not of subcontractors of tenderers, the fact that a subcontractor 
of a tenderer  has a pending litigation with the EP  before the General Court of the European Union  against the European 
Parliament in a Public procurement file could  be considered as a  conflict of interest for the ongoing submission for the 
Framework contract, as the service provided by  the subcontractor of the actual tenderer might be the one who is decisive 
for the winning of the bid on behalf of the tenderer. 

On the other hand, conflicts of interest situations are always a result of several surrounding circumstances and the fact 
alone that a subcontractor of a tenderer has a pending litigation with the EP certainly brings not a conflict of interest 
situation with it: First of all, the litigation in question might be about a complete different issue than a public procurement 
dispute.  

Secondly, the litigation may well have been already settled at the time when the contractor will be actually called to provide 
a specific service for the EP.  Thirdly, the result of the pending litigation before the General Court of the European Union is 
not known: The subcontractor may even win his case against the Institution, which will even more exclude a situation of 
conflict of interest. Four,  as the subject of the present tender procedure is a framework contract which purpose is to support 
the work of the Committee on Legal Affairs on possibly emerging issues in the areas covered by  5 specific lots and  enable 
the JURI committee to evaluate future  policy options and respond to possible proposals made by the European Commission, 
a conflict of interest cannot be the case already now, but only in the moment when an order is placed in accordance with 
Article I.7 of the draft framework contracts. 

It is at that very moment that the given authorising officer must examine whether the impartial and objective exercise of 
the performance of the contract is compromised or not, as, in any event, should the situation arise that the tenderer were to 
be still in a position of conflict of interest at the time of the placing of a specific offer within his lot, the existence of conflict 
of interest must be established in the given case. It is always dependent on the judgement of the authorising officer in 
question and based on the merits of the case concerned. The provisions of the Rules of Application of the Financial 
Regulation, according to which the contracting authority may conclude that economic operators will not perform the 
contract to an appropriate quality standard where the contracting authority establishes that they have conflicting interest 
which may negatively affect the performance of the contract (Article 148.8 of Commission Regulation (EU) No 1268/2012 of 
29 October 2012) always applies. 

The fact that the tenderer is drawing himself the attention to a possible conflict of one of his subcontractors could have a 
positive effect on the future evaluation of the authorising officer if a conflict of interest is present in the moment of concrete 
bid inside the chosen lot. In our opinion, the situation described in the question may only in very extreme case lead to real 
conflict of interest. 

In conclusion, the question brought forward by the tenderer is to be answered as follows:  

"The single fact of a pending litigation before the General Court with the contracting authority of one of the subcontractors 
of the tenderer can, at this stage, not be considered as a “prima facie” case of conflict of interest but depends on the given 
case." 

19. I would need a clarification concerning the meaning of financial  capacity that a tenderer should declare to have in order to 
complete any assigned contract or service; the Parliament is entitled to ask evidence of the capacity. However, Rule 13.3 
does not clarify: 

- what such an evidence may be; 

- how the Parliament judges that means at disposal of the tenderer are sufficient to perform his duties or not;  

- moreover, the criteria adopted to apply a fine to the tenderer that would result not to have  - in the Parliament view -a 
sufficient financial capacity. 

I would respectfully highlight that the wording used in the Offer seems to grant to the Parliament a discretionary power to 
impose fines to those tenderers who applied having no sufficient resources without giving a definition of "economic and 
financial capacity" for the purpose of this Tender.  

Thus, in such a case, even a bona fide tenderer would be worried to lodge his application to participate the tender as it 
would put him at risk of a sanction in the event he were considered not suitable to perform a contract; this makes very 



risky to apply as financial consequences seem envisaged if the minimum standards set out by the Parliament ( but unknown 
to the public) are not met. 

As it seems to me an excessive consequence being fined for a simple participation to a tender, nor I think it may be a 
Parliament policy to apply sanctions this way, I would ask a more detailed clarification on the point 13.3, having regard to 
the three points highlighted above. 

The Rules for the submission , contents and presentation of a tender (Rule 13.3  on the financial and economic capacity) 
refers to Regulation (EU, EURATOM) No 966/2012 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 25 October 2012 on the 
financial rules applicable to the general budget of the Union (the Financial Regulation). Therefore, the Rules  for the 
submission , contents and presentation of a tender need to be interpreted together with the Financial Regulation and its 
Rules of Application (Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) No 1268/2012 of 29 October 2012 on the rules of application 
of Regulation (EU, Euratom) No 966/2012) 

As regards the evidence of the financial capacity of the tenderer, Article 147 of the Rules of Application enumerates the 
pieces of evidence, which might be requested as proof of the financial and economic capacity of the tenderers. Paragraph 1 
of this article provides that: 

“Proof of economic and financial capacity may in particular be furnished by one or more of the following documents: 

(a) Appropriate statements from banks, or where appropriate, evidence of relevant professional risk indemnity insurance: 

(b) Financial statements for at most the last three years for which accounts have been closed: 

(c) A statement of overall turnover and turnover concerning the works, supplies or services covered by the contract during a 
period which may be no more than the last three financial years available.” 

As far as your second and third remarks are concerned, Rule 13.3. of the Rules for the submission , contents and 
presentation of a tender provides that the submission of a tender amounts to a declaration on their part that they have the 
capacity required to perform the contract. However, this Rule also provides that the European Parliament reserves the right 
to proof this capacity at any time (because, for example, information is obtained from other sources which make it doubtful 
that the tenderer really has the requested capacity). In this case, if it is assessed that the tenderer does not have the 
required capacity, it can be concluded that the tenderer's statements were false during the procedure and sanctions can be 
imposed for the tenderer's misconduct (false statements).  

The consequences of this misconduct might lead to the application of the administrative and financial  penalties provided 
for in Article 109(2) of the Financial Regulation : "2. The penalties referred to in paragraph 1 shall be proportionate to the 
importance of the contract and the seriousness of the misconduct, and may consist of: (a) the exclusion of the candidate or 
tenderer or contractor concerned from the contracts and grants financed by the budget, for a maximum period of ten years; 
and/or (b) the payment of financial penalties by the candidate or tenderer or contractor up to the value of that contract." 

20. Submission of the Proposal: Point 2.2 of the Rules for the submission of a tender, states that the proposals must be 
submitted at the Brussels Official Mail Unit in case of being handed. However, the Strasbourg Mail Service timetables have 
been indicated and there are no instructions in this sense on the procurement notice either. Could you please indicate the 
exact deadline for the submission of proposals according to the Brussels Official Mail Unit? 

The word "Strasbourg" refers only to the Plenary session weeks which take place once per month in that city. As indicted, 
the week before that, the Brussels Mail is always longer open, i.e. 8-17. All the other weeks, it closes at 12.30. As the 14 
April is not a Friday, you are not concerned. 

21. Price Offer: Point 14.2.2 of the Rules for the submission of a tender includes a calculation system for the evaluation of the 
financial proposal but we do not understand how the tenderer proposal is evaluated and what information is considered. 
The financial template (Annex IV) is divided in products and sub-divided in categories of experts and the maximum score is 
100 (project leader 35, senior researcher 35 and researcher 30). 

a. Is this score evaluated from the sum of the products of every expert category? For example: Project Leader, Maximum 
scores 35 points. 

- At a glance note 5 points, 
- Briefing 7 points, 
- In-depth analysis 10 points, 
- Study: 13 points, 
- TOTAL points: 35 

If we are not right, we would really appreciate if you could explain with detail how the total 100 score is obtained and 
which are the numbers taken into account. 



Price Offer: Point 14.2.2 of all possible tenderer proposals are evaluated on a scale 0 -100.  Indeed, the financial template 
(Annex IV) is divided in products and sub-divided in categories of experts but the score of maximum score  100 (project 
leader 35, senior researcher 35 and researcher 30) is for our internal evaluation. You should fill in the Global Financial offer. 
It might be that the daily rate for e.g. project leader is different in the case of a short note than for a study. Just fill in the 
table. The sum in the right column will give us an indication of price. 

 
Please we really appreciate an example of how the score is allotted in each product.  
It depends the time that you estimate necessary for each product. We cannot anticipate your estimation. 

 

b. Is it possible to set different daily rates for the same expert category for the elaboration of different products? 

Yes it is possible, that is why there are 4 different boxes according to the length of the product to be delivered. 

c. As Annex IV “Global Financial Offer” includes a cell to introduce the indicative total amount for every product, we would 
like to know if this information has to be provided in order to define a maximum number of products per lot. Could you 
please indicate this amount of products? In case is not the reason, could you please clarify what this information is needed 
for? 

No, this information has not to be provided in order to define a maximum number of products per lot. The amount per 
products could vary according to your internal working method.  This information is needed in order to have evaluate the 
price differences according to objective criteria (daily rates instead of flat rate sum). Please consult also the FAQ document 
on EPs website under point 10. 

22. Estimated Value of the Contract: Regarding the estimated value of the contract, and in relation with the previous question, 
could you please indicate estimated budget allotted for every lot? 

The indicated EUR 5 Mio. are the prevision for all 5 Lots. The real amount per Lot will completely depend on the committees' 
possible future request. 

23. Technical Capacity: According to point 5.2 of the Annex II “Administrative Offer”, it is compulsory to use the same 
attachment to prove criteria 5.2.2 and 5.2.3? Can the tenderer use the same attachment to proof other technical and 
professional capacity, e.g. points 5.2.3 and 5.2.4 which seems quite similar? 

No, this is not compulsory. Of course you can use the same attachment to proof other technical and professional capacity, 
e.g. points 5.2.3 and 5.2.4.  Please consult also the FAQ document on EPs website. 

24. Eligibility: Is an international organization with registered office in a Member State of the UE an eligible tenderer to include 
a consortium? 

Yes, if it has legal personality, Please consult also the FAQ document on EPs website. 

25. Subcontracting: We have reviewed question 6.b recently published online 
http://www.europarl.europa.eu/tenders/invitations.htm and we consider the question has not been completely clarified. 
Therefore, we would kindly ask to receive further enlightenment regarding the following issues: 

a. Could a non-in-house expert be a member of the core team? 

Yes. 

b. If yes, is it considered as subcontracting? It is necessary to include any additional information regarding his/her 
participation at this stage as for the in-house consultants? 

Yes.  

Please could you clarify which one?  
A CV for example 

c. It is enough to indicate in their CVs if these consultants are in-house or subcontracted? 

Yes. 

d. Could you clearly indicate what information is required to be included in the proposal to have an approved 
subcontracting and in which Annex? 

All subcontractors have to present the same info as the main contractor, in order to prove to us their eligibility, (in all the 
aspects, financially and technically.....) They are evaluated on the same basis as the main contractor 

http://www.europarl.europa.eu/tenders/invitations.htm


That is mean to include a full administrative form for each CV?  
No, just a piece of paper with the CV is sufficient. 

e. It is necessary to include in point 3.2 of the Annex II “Administrative Offer” a detail of the subcontracted experts or it is 
only required for legal entities? 

Yes, it is necessary. 

In this point 3.2 there is a column in which is stated: " Only for individual contracts (not for FWC) Value of subcontracted 
part of contract..." How can we know this amount if we don't know how much budget is allotted per lot and per product? 
Please could you clarify how to fill this column? Thanks. This is also related to answer 6f.  
There is no amount to be filled in, but a percentage. It's an estimation (70 % or 10 %?)  

f. The table “Detail for subcontracting” included in point 3.2 of the Annex II “Administrative Offer” inserts a column 
requiring the value of the subcontracted part of the contract to be carried out by every subcontractor, as a percentage of 
estimated total amount of the contract. If we do not have information regarding the estimated amount of every lot, either 
the number of products that will be required to elaborate, how can we estimate a percentage? 

As said under point 2a, 2b, 2c and 3, this has nothing to do with the possible later product to be delivered. But if you 
estimate it is the same daily rate for every product, no problem. 

26. According to Annex II, 5-2 Technical and professional capacity- Proof must be attached. Please could you clarify if the points 
5.2.2, 5.2.3, 5.2.4, 5.2.5 and 5.2.6 referrer to Company experience or referrer to CVs of the research Team proposed in the 
technical offer? 

It is not necessary to be a company. Please consult point 13.4 of the rules of Tendering 

Technical and professional capacity will be assessed on the basis of the following information, to be supplied by tenderers: 

— The educational and professional qualifications of the staff responsible for the execution of the services, including the 
ones of the sub-service providers or sub-contractors if relevant (CVs). For each CV the contractor will indicate if it 
corresponds to a researcher, senior researcher or project leader profile (please refer to the corresponding definitions used 
here above for additional information). 

— a compilation of publications of the staff planned for the execution of the services on relevant issues in the specialised 
academic press carried out in the past five (5) years; 

— a list of similar services supplied within the last five (5) years, with the sums, dates and recipients; 

— detailed references for similar contracts or projects performed for the EU institutions, and/or other international 
organisations, in the past five (5) years, indicating the amount, date and stakeholders; 

— proof of membership in academic research networks or think-tanks or other indications for scientific excellence such as 
awards, grants for research projects and similar; 

— proof of relevant articles touching on issues of the EU institutional framework, experience in working in an area related 
to EU issues, participation in conferences, courses etc. on matters related to the European Union. 

Does it mean that one Company can apply alone with the only technical capacity of experts, although the Company does 
not have the technical capacity?  
Yes, if the network is capable of doing the work. It all depends of the Project leader. 

We understand that there are two different stakeholders in the tender: Companies and experts. Could you clarify which 

one should proof any point of Annex II 5-2?  
Both. 

The technical criteria 5.2.3, 5.2.4, 5.2.5, 5.2.6. can be proof only by experts, or it is needed to be proved as well by the 
tenderers understood as Company submitting the offer, or a Consortium?  
Both. The project leader has to be capable leading the project. The experts do have to have the expertise. 

 

 

 

 

 


